IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

		SCA EFiled: Aug 15 2023 02:50PM EDT Transaction ID 70640172
	CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGIN	NIA
	NO. 23-160	
STATE OF WEST VI	RGINIA	
Plaintiff	Below, Respondent	
v.		Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Cabell County (21-F-209)
NATHAN DOLEN		Cabell County (21-1-207)
Defendan	t Below, Petitioner.	
	PETITIONER'S BRIEF	

Counsel For Petitioner:

Jason T. Gain (WV Bar #12353) Losh Mountain Legal Services P.O. Box 578 Anmoore, WV 26323 Phone: (304) 506-6467

Fax: (304) 715-3605 wvlawyer13@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1) The circuit court erred by permitting the introduction of a cell phone tracking expert report because, a) it was not introduced by the preparer in violation of the confrontation clause, and b) it was not disclosed properly and violated the applicable discovery rules
- 2) The facts taken in the light most favorable to the State do not meet the statutory criteria for a conviction of kidnapping or were incidental to the robbery.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 22, 2020, Ronald and Orlinda Adkins suffered a horrific and violent home invasion in their Huntington residence. Appendix Record ("A.R.") at 8-10. At approximately 9:30 a.m. on that day Corporal Brett Jarrett of the Cabell County Sheriff's Department was dispatched to the Adkins home after a 911 call was received at dispatch. *Id.* at 282-83. He, along with other officers on the scene observed Mr. and Mrs. Adkins in a bloody and battered state and both were handcuffed. *Id.* at 285; 297. They were both taken to the hospital for treatment. ¹ *Id.* at 294.

After investigation Corporal Jarrett received information that a red Ford F-150 was seen leaving the area at times relevant to the robbery. All officers in the area were on the lookout for that red Ford. *Id.* at 303. Shortly after 3:00 p.m. the same day Chief Deputy Adams spotted a red Ford F-150 in the parking lot of a local Speedway store. *Id.* at 568-69. Chief Adams followed the truck down the road and pulled in behind it when it parked in a driveway. *Id.* at 570-71. He approached the occupants of the vehicle, one male and one female. *Id.* at 573. While approaching the vehicle, Chief Adams noticed many items in the bed of the truck which were similar to the items taken from the Adkins' residence. *Id.* at 577.

2

¹ The Adkins' vehicle was stolen and burned, and items were taken from their home and garage. As these facts are not relevant to this appeal, they will not be cited and discussed except for context.

Both occupants of the truck were arrested and later identified as Wanda Blankenship and the Petitioner, Nathan Dolen. *Id.* at 577-78.

Mr. Dolen was interrogated and told the police that he had received a phone call from a Mr. Jeremy Artrip about a pressure washing job and to meet him that morning. *Id.* at 610-11. Mr. Dolen stated that when he met Mr. Artrip, the latter began loading items into the bed of Mr. Dolen's truck. *Id.* at 611. Mr. Dolen stated to the police that Mr. Artrip had told him that he stole those items from an older couple and that they were hurt. *Id.* at 612. Mr. Dolen then stated that he was the one who called 911 to report the incident. *Id.*

The State did not believe Mr. Dolen's version of events and charged him and Wanda Blankenship in a fifteen (15) count indictment for the events of that morning. *Id.* at 8. Mr. Dolen was charged with one (1) count of entry of a building other than a dwelling, two (2) counts of robbery, two (2) counts of kidnapping, one (1) count of burglary, one (1) count of attempted first degree murder, two (2) counts of malicious assault, one (1) count of use or presentment of a firearm during the commission of a felony, and one (1) count of third degree arson. *Id.*

The case was close and the only direct evidence the State had was the testimony of Wanda Blankenship who had taken a plea deal. *Id.* at 1154. The crime scene was barely processed, and no fingerprints or DNA were recovered belonging to Mr. Dolen. *Id.* at 1175. The victims did not recognize the assailant. However, the crushing blow to the defense case was the expert Powerpoint presentation which showed Mr. Dolen's cell phone allegedly traveling to and from the victim's residence at the appropriate times. *See* Section I, *infra*.

Mr. Dolen proceeded to trial on November 1, 2022. *Id.* at 64. After five (5) days of trial, the jury convicted Mr. Dolen on all counts except for a single malicious assault count. *Id.*

at 64-67. A mercy phase hearing was held at which the jury recommended mercy. *Id.* at 69 (in passing).

The circuit court denied Mr. Dolen's post-trial motions and sentenced him to consecutive terms of two (2) life sentences with mercy, plus a total of forty (40) years for the armed robberies. Id. at 69. All other sentences were run concurrently to these sentences. Id.

Mr. Dolen now comes to this Court seeking relief from his convictions.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case was very close on the merits. However, the State introduced an expert report taken from the cellular telephone data purportedly obtained from Mr. Dolen's phone, processed by the use of proprietary software, and did not call the expert who prepared the report or used the software, but allowed another witness to introduce it through his testimony.

This is a classic violation of the confrontation clause line of cases requiring an expert who actually prepares a report introduced into evidence or conducts analysis to appear and be subject to cross examination. See, e.g., Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647 (2011). This error was terribly damaging as the PowerPoint presentation prepared by the expert was very inculpatory. In addition, the State failed to turn over this report to the Defendant prior to trial in violation of the applicable discovery rules.

Second and finally, construing the facts in the light most favorable to the State, there was not a kidnapping. If Mr. Dolen is guilty², then he is certainly guilty of everything else he was charged with except kidnapping. The two victims testified at trial, and they described the assailant as beating them, attempting to shoot Mr. Adkins, and then handcuffing them while they were lying on the floor. The assailant then immediately left. At no time did he

² A fact which he continues to deny.

"transport" them, hold them for "ransom, reward, or concession," or meet any of the statutory requirements to support a conviction for kidnapping. W.Va. Code §61-2-14A.

For this reason, Mr. Dolen's kidnapping convictions should be set aside.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner believes that argument under Rule 20 is important as this case is an excellent vehicle for development in the area of the law regarding confrontation of expert witnesses. He further believes that Rule 19 would be appropriate for argument regarding the discovery violation and the concurrent kidnapping charges.

For these reasons, he believes a memorandum decision would not be proper.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Court reviews questions of law under a *de novo* standard. *See, e.g., State v. Lilly*, 461 S.E.2d 101 (W.Va. 1995). The remedy for a discovery violation is entrusted to the circuit court and is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State ex rel. Rusen v. Hill*, 454 S.E.2d 427, 434 (W.Va. 1994).

I. <u>The circuit court erred by permitting the introduction of a cell phone tracking expert report because, a) it was not introduced by the preparer in violation of the confrontation clause, and b) it was not disclosed properly and violated the applicable discovery rules.</u>

Given the important nature of what is alternatively called a PowerPoint presentation or an expert report (included on the enclosed jump drive noted in the Appendix Record and included by separate mailing) a lengthy review of the introduction of that evidence is necessary.

In the middle of the trial the defense was presented with a PowerPoint presentation that the State intended to submit into evidence. A.R. at 1102. Defense counsel objected as he claimed that he had not been provided with this presentation until lunch on a Friday during trial and moved to exclude it. *Id.* The lower court inquired about the PowerPoint:

THE COURT: Well, that's the first I've heard of it. What is it?

MRS. PLYMALE [prosecutor]: The Fusion Center created it and Eddie Pritchard is the only one qualified in that jurisdiction, well, that I know, that's why he's using the information. But he still has the data from AT&T. That's where that came from. It's just basically a collaboration of all of it.

THE COURT: Is it his report?

MRS. PLYMALE: No. It was just created for – just basically put all the information together. But the information is in the AT&T records, which they have known, which they have.

MR. MIKE FRAZIER [defense counsel]: Yeah. We have records, but it's just a bunch of numbers. And that's a whole different thing than having this guy say that the number associated with Nathan Dolen used cell service providing coverage in the direction of the [victim's residence] November 22nd. I mean, that may be buried somewhere in the data and maybe he can testify to that from looking at the data, but I think that's a whole different story than putting on a PowerPoint showing the jury.

Id. at 1102-03. The lower court deferred ruling on the objection until it could hold a hearing outside the presence of the jury. *Id.* at 1106. Trial counsel then filed a written motion to exclude the expert report. *Id.* at 23. The lower court held a hearing on the following Monday regarding the motion. *Id.* at 1251.

Trial counsel stated that although he had received bulk raw data regarding Mr. Dolen's phone, the intended exhibit was created by having an expert collate that data and place it into an interactive time and map form for presentation to the jury. He stated that the expert and the presentation should have been disclosed far sooner than the previous Friday to give him time to hire an expert himself. *Id.* at 1251-53.

The State responded that it "actually had a conversation with [trial counsel] about the fact that the information that is created by the Fusion Center *cannot be testified to by the person who created it because he does not have the qualifications* in order to make the – *to put forth before the [c]ourt.* That's why we were going to call Eddie Pritchard." *Id.* at 1254. (emphasis added). The State claimed that it had notes stating that it had this conversation with trial counsel on July 29th, some four months prior to trial. *Id.* at 1254-55.

The primary prosecutor claimed that she had a discussion with the secondary prosecutor telling him to provide this information to the defense by April 1. *Id.* at 1256. She further claimed that all of the disclosure to the defense was done verbally. *Id.*

Defense counsel claimed that he did not recall the conversation:

THE COURT: Do you recall that conversation?

MR. MIKE FRAZIER: I do not. I do not recall anything – talk about the Fusion Center. I am certain that we did not about there being an expert report. I would have jumped on that.

I'm not saying we haven't had a number of conversations, and she may have mentioned something about this witness. All I can tell you is we – Dru [secondary defense counsel] and I went back through it over the weekend. We do not have anything that has Eddie Pritchard's CV on it, and we don't have anything – and we went through all of the flash drives that have been sent to us. We don't have anything that has this report on it.

Id. at 1256-57. The secondary prosecutor stated that he provided it to trial counsel on May 25th. *Id.* at 1257. He claimed that it was too big to attach to an email, that he had placed the presentation along with the expert CV on a thumb drive and placed it in trial counsel's mailbox in the Cabell County Circuit Clerk's office. *Id.* at 1258.

Trial counsel again stated that he had received the raw phone data and had also received a witness list stating "Eddie Pritchard, Huntington Police Department" with his own handwritten note stating "phone stuff" next to Mr. Pritchard's name. *Id.* With the court now

ready to rule in favor of the State because the defense was indeed provided with the raw data and the name of the witness, secondary defense counsel articulated his objection:

MR. DRU FRAZIER: Just briefly, your Honor.

We're not objecting to the raw data. We're objecting to their – Mr. Pritchard's interpretation of the data. I mean, that's akin to if this was a car wreck, them providing us with black box information and then having their expert do their reconstruction. We needed to know how he interpreted the data to know if we needed to hire an expert to know if Mr. Pritchard would agree with us, agree with the State. We have no way to get an expert. I mean, that's the reason the State or the plaintiff has to provide their expert first so the defense or the defendant in a civil case can decide whether they need an expert. We didn't know if Mr. Pritchard would agree with us, agree with the State. It's his interpretation that they want to put on before the jury, and that's what we object to. It's clearly a violation, a highly prejudicial violation.

Id. at 1259-60. The lower court then stated that it had four very respected members of the bar telling it two different stories and that it was in a tough position. *Id.* at 1260. It stated that it did not believe that anyone was lying. *Id.* at 1260-61. The lower court then once again began to rule against the defense by stating that it had the raw data and an expert disclosure when trial counsel interposed:

MR. MIKE FRAZIER: Judge, if I might. He wasn't designated as an expert witness. He was just designated as a witness. I just assume he's the guy that took the phone off Nathan, you know. We had no reason to believe that he was going to be called as an expert witness.

MRS. PLYMALE: Well, if he had looked through the actual report, you would have known that the person who actually took the phone off the defendant was not Eddie Pritchard. Eddie Pritchard worked for the Huntington Police Department. We did provide a CV and we did have this specific conversation about these records.

The AT&T records that we are talking about ---

MR. MIKE FRAZIER: You did not --- you never talked to me about there being an expert witness in this case.

MRS. PLYMALE: Can I?

MR. MIKE FRAZIER: I expressly deny that.

Id. at 1261-62. The parties continued to spar over whether Mr. Pritchard's CV had been disclosed and whether the raw data was a sufficient substitute. *Id.* at 1262-65.

The lower court then ruled the evidence to be admissible and gave the defense time to look at the report. *Id.* at 1266. It stated again that the defense had time to have the raw data and hire their own expert. *Id.* at 1267. The defense objected further stating correctly that it was not its burden to disprove the State's case. *Id.* Trial counsel moved to stay the proceedings to hire an expert. *Id.* at 1268.

After more vigorous debate, the lower court stood firm on its ruling that the expert testimony and the PowerPoint presentation would be admissible and did not permit a continuance of the trial. *Id.* at 1273.

With the jury back in the box, Lt. Eddie Pritchard took the witness chair. *Id.* at 1317. Lt. Pritchard stated that he was the supervisor of the crime analyst unit in the Huntington Police Department. *Id.* at 1319. He stated that:

The crime analyst unit, we compile data and assist detectives in their investigations of crimes that have been committed, which will include, a lot of times, cell phones, downloading cell phones and the call detail records associated with any of the cell phones that happened to be collected, or a cell number that has been identified that an investigator deems of interest in the case. We'll process those call detail records and assist the detectives in understanding those.

Id. at 1319-20. Through Lt. Pritchard, the State, over defense objection entered Exhibit 222 which was the AT&T subscriber information for the phone to be analyzed. *Id.* at 1320; 1593. The State then introduced Exhibit 223, the raw data discussed above. *Id.* at 1324; 1600 (over 109 pages of raw data). Over objections, 224 and 225 were admitted which purported to authenticate the raw data. *Id.* at 1328; 1709; 1720.

At this point the State then introduced the disputed PowerPoint expert presentation. When identifying it, Lt. Pritchard states that "226 is a flash drive that has a PowerPoint presentation on it. And attached to it is the print off that PowerPoint presentation was prepared by the West Virginia Fusion Center." Id. at 1331. (emphasis added). The defense renewed its earlier objection. Id. at 1332.

Lt. Pritchard outlined the devastating presentation in detail and, with each substantive word, cemented Mr. Dolen's fate. *Id.* at 1332-52.

More importantly, during his testimony he stated:

And on this, this [the PowerPoint presentation] was for – the Fusion Center had – was presented the call detail records, and *this is the report that they have presented*.

So the analysis was performed [by the Fusion Center] on the call detail records....

Id. at 1333 (emphasis added). When describing the PowerPoint, Lt. Pritchard testified:

- Q. Okay. Again, again, this is consistent with what the call detail records that you have in front of you as well as your look into the specific areas?
- A. Yes. I plotted them myself on Google Maps to verify the accuracy of the Fusion Center's work here, and I also loaded these call detail records into our program, which is called PenLink, where it has a mapping function to it also, and it came back with the same results as the program that the Fusion Center used to make this PowerPoint.
- Q. Okay. And this is sort of backing up what you are seeing through these call detail records?
- A. Yes, it is It was all done with the call detail records right here.

Id. at 1347-48. On cross examination, Lt. Pritchard again admitted that he did not prepare the PowerPoint presentation. *Id.* at 1353. When asked when he provided the PowerPoint presentation to the State, he replied "I didn't. I received it from the State." *Id.* at

1355. He said that he had the presentation from the Fusion Center for a "[m]onth, two months. I've had it a couple of months." *Id*.

When questioned about the presentation, Lt. Pritchard testified for the Fusion Center:

Q. Okay. So the fact that AT&T doesn't use the azimuth, does that mean that the photograph or the PowerPoint we saw is not accurate?

A. They were giving the degrees of how the 360 degrees works. And yes, the Fusion Center used azimuth as an example.

Through my training in reviewing of AT&T's record keys, them specifically, they don't use the azimuth part of it. The azimuth explanation of this PowerPoint was to help educate the judge, jury, attorneys in the 360 degree usage of the sectors and the angle at which the phone is communicating with that sector."

Id. at 1356 (emphasis added). After this lengthy factual introduction, Mr. Dolen will now finally turn to the substance of his argument: that this PowerPoint presentation should not have been admitted both because a) it violates the confrontation clause, and b) it was not provided in a timely manner through discovery.

A. Confrontation Clause

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. CONST. Amend. VI; *see also* W.Va. CONST. Art. III §14.

For nearly twenty years, the United States Supreme Court has dispensed with the judicially created fiction that so long as testimony is reliable that a right to confrontation is forfeited. *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). The clause means exactly what it says—that when a person gives evidence against a criminal defendant, he or she must appear in court and suffer through the "crucible" of cross examination. *Id*.

This protection is not limited to fact witnesses. Experts who testify as to drug quantities must appear in court. *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305 (2009). In

addition, laboratory technicians who conduct blood alcohol analysis are subject to the same constitutional safeguards. *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 564 U.S. 647 (2011).

This Court has recognized this line of cases and held that it uses the "primary purpose analysis" to determine if expert testimony is covered by the confrontation clause:

Under the Confrontation Clause contained within the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 14 of Article III of the West Virginia Constitution, a testimonial statement is, generally, a statement that is made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial.

State v. Kennedy, 735 S.E.2d 905, 915 (W.Va. 2012) (internal citations omitted) (holding that an autopsy report is testimonial).

In *Kennedy*, the State introduced the testimony of a doctor who observed another doctor's autopsy report. This Court found that when the first doctor acted "as a 'transmitter' for the second doctor's opinion, "such testimony is precisely the type of 'surrogate' testimony that is violative of the Confrontation Clause...." *Id.* at 920-21. However, what the first doctor observed, and his conclusions drawn *from sources other than the autopsy report*, were outside the scope of the Clause and admissible. *Id.* at 921. ("they are mentioned nowhere in the autopsy report itself.").

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