## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGENIA EFiled: Sep 29 2023

**Docket No. 23-160** 

11:11AM EDT **Transaction ID 70987906** 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

NATHAN DOLEN,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the March 15, 2023, Order Circuit Court of Cabell County Case No. 21-F-209

> **PATRICK MORRISEY** ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA NEASE PROPER **SENIOR ASSISTANT** ATTORNEY GENERAL 1900 Kanawha Blvd., E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830

Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

State Bar No. 9354

Email: Andrea.R.Nease-Proper@wvago.gov

###

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

Even if the disclosure was not made when the State indicated that it was made, there was no prejudice here. "The traditional appellate standard for determining prejudice for discovery violations under Rule 16 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure involves a two-pronged analysis: (1) did the non-disclosure surprise the defendant on a material fact, and (2) did it hamper the preparation and presentation of the defendant's case." Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Rusen v. Hill*, 193 W. Va. 133, 454 S.E.2d 427 (1994). Petitioner can meet neither prong of the test.

Petitioner was not surprised on a material fact in this case. He had the raw data with the GPS coordinates of where his phone was located on the date of these crimes. App. 1103. While his defense was that he was not there, it defies reason that he would not at least review the raw data to determine if there was exculpatory evidence contained within the records. All Prichard did was plot the GPS coordinates that were supplied by the State to Petitioner onto a map, showing

that he was in the area of the victim's home. This was not a surprise to Petitioner in that the State had charged him with this crime and would undoubtedly try to prove that he was present in the area.

This alleged failure to disclose the evidence did not hamper Petitioner's defense. Petitioner's defense was that he was not at the victim's home and, instead, that he met another man who committed the crimes and gave Petitioner the stolen goods. Petitioner had the information at his fingertips that his cell phone positioned him near the victims' home at the time of the crime. Further, Petitioner did receive the PowerPoint prior to Prichard's testimony, and the court noted that he had "a few days" to review the same. App. 1266. Petitioner has not indicated how reviewing the PowerPoint earlier would have changed his defense. Thus, the admission of this evidence was not erroneous.

#### 3. Any error in the admission of the PowerPoint presentation was harmless.

Even if this Court finds that the admission of the PowerPoint was erroneous, the error would be harmless in this case. "Most errors, including constitutional ones are subject to harmless error analysis ... simply because it makes no sense to retry a case if the result assuredly will be the same." *State v. Omechinski*, 196 W. Va. 41, 48 n.11, 468 S.E.2d 173, 180 n.11 (1996) (citing *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 278 (1993)). While Petitioner attempts to frame this as a constitutional issue, the true complaint is the admission of evidence in the form of the PowerPoint. When dealing with the wrongful admission of evidence, the appropriate test for harmlessness "is whether we can say with fair assurance, after stripping the erroneous evidence from the whole, that the remaining evidence was independently sufficient to support the verdict and the jury was not substantially swayed by the error." *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W.Va. 657, 684, 461 S.E.2d 163, 190 (1995). "The harmless error inquiry involves an assessment of the likelihood that the error affected

the outcome of the trial." Syl. Pt. 13, in part, *State v. Bradshaw*, 193 W.Va. 519, 457 S.E.2d 456 (1995). "An evidentiary ruling exceeding the circuit court's discretion does not require that the defendant's conviction be disturbed . . . if the resulting error is harmless." *State v. Varlas*, 237 W. Va. 399, 406, 787 S.E.2d 670, 677 (2016) (citing W. Va. R. Crim. P. 52(a)). This Court has identified the following test, used to evaluate the prejudice of improperly admitted evidence:

(1) the inadmissible evidence must be removed from the State's case and a determination made as to whether the remaining evidence is sufficient to convince impartial minds of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; (2) if the remaining evidence is found to be insufficient, the error is not harmless; (3) if the remaining evidence is sufficient to support the conviction, an analysis must then be made to determine whether the error had any prejudicial effect on the jury.

Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Atkins, 163 W. Va. 502, 261 S.E.2d 55 (1979).

The evidence in this case is voluminous absent the PowerPoint. Petitioner was found with copious amounts of items stolen from the Adkins home. App. 717-50. Items inside the vehicle tested positive for Mr. Adkins' blood. App. 815, 1031-32. While Petitioner blamed Jeremy Artrip for the crime, Artrip testified that he had been at work at the time and denied culpability. App. 1114-15. Wanda Blankenship testified to Petitioner disappearing during the period of time these crimes were committed, wearing the clothing identified by the victims. App. 1166-67. Blankenship then testified to helping Petitioner move the later identified stolen items from a truck Petitioner was driving to his red Ford. App. 1178-79. Blankenship then testified that Petitioner got rid of the truck by pushing it over a hill. App. 1180. Much of Blankenship's testimony was supported by her cell phone records. App. 1304-06. As all of this evidence is sufficient to convict Petitioner, the error of admitting the PowerPoint is harmless.

# C. The evidence was sufficient to sustain the kidnapping convictions and the kidnapping charges were not incidental to the robbery charges.

Petitioner next argues that the kidnapping did not meet the statutory definition, or was incidental to the robbery. Pet'r's Br. 17. Petitioner cannot meet the heavy burden of a sufficiency of the evidence claim, and his claim that the kidnapping was incidental to the robbery was not presented below and should not be reviewed. Thus, Petitioner's conviction should be affirmed.

# 1. The evidence in this case when reviewed in the light most favorable to sustaining the verdict meets the statutory elements of kidnapping.

Petitioner argues that the facts of this case do not meet the statutory criteria for a kidnapping conviction. Pet'r's Br. 16. Petitioner admits that the facts prove that the Adkinses were unlawfully restrained against their will, but argues that the State did not meet the other requirements for kidnapping. Pet'r's Br. 19. Petitioner is mistaken.

A petitioner who challenges the sufficiency of the evidence underlying his or her conviction faces a heavy burden. Syl. Pt. 3, *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163. To prevail, a petitioner must establish that "no rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *LaRock*, 196 W. Va. at 303, 470 S.E.2d at 622. While undertaking its review of the record, this Court must "review all the evidence . . . in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution." Syl. Pt. 3, *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163.

This Court has ruled that it may accept any adequate evidence, including circumstantial evidence, as support for a conviction. *State v. Spinks*, 239 W. Va. 588, 611, 803 S.E.2d 558, 581 (2017) (citing *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. at 668, 461 S.E.2d at 174). As the Court explained in *Guthrie*, it will not overturn a verdict unless "reasonable minds could not have reached the same

conclusion." 194 W. Va. at 669, 461 S.E.2d at 175. Finally, "[t]he evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 3. Instead, a verdict "should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* "This standard is a strict one; a defendant must meet a heavy burden to gain reversal because a jury verdict will not be overturned lightly." *Id.* at 667–68, 461 S.E.2d at 173–74. This Court likewise has stated:

A convicted defendant who presses a claim of evidentiary insufficiency faces an uphill climb. The defendant fails if the evidence presented, taken in the light most agreeable to the prosecution, is adequate to permit a rational jury to find the essential elements of the offense of conviction beyond a reasonable doubt. Phrased another way, as long as the aggregate evidence justifies a judgment of conviction, other hypotheses more congenial to a finding of innocence need not be ruled out. We reverse only if no rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

LaRock, 196 W. Va. at 303, 470 S.E.2d at 622. "To warrant interference with a verdict of guilt on the ground of insufficiency of evidence, the court must be convinced that the evidence was manifestly inadequate and that consequent injustice has been done." Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Etchell, 147 W. Va. 338, 127 S.E.2d 609 (1962) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Bowles, 117 W. Va. 217, 185 S.E. 205 (1936)). Petitioner cannot sustain his heavy burden on this assignment of error.

The version of the kidnapping statute in effect at the time of this crime enumerates four ways a defendant can be convicted of kidnapping if a defendant unlawfully restrained someone for one of the following reasons:

- (1) To hold another person for ransom, reward or concession;
- (2) To transport another person with the intent to inflict bodily injury or to terrorize the victim or another person; or

(3) To use another person as a shield or hostage, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, shall be punished by confinement by the Division of Corrections for life, and, notwithstanding the provisions of article twelve, chapter sixty-two of this code, is not eligible for parole.

W.Va. Code § 61-2-14a(a)(1)-(3) (2017). A review of the evidence shows that Petitioner could potentially meet either the first or second subsection and so Petitioner's claims must fail.

Petitioner discounts any argument that Mr. and Mrs. Adkins were held with the intent to inflict bodily injury or to terrorize them with a single sentence. Pet'r's Br. 19. This is incorrect when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Handcuffing together two injured and bleeding elderly victims was clearly done both to inflict bodily injury and to terrorize them. Mrs. Adkins testified to injuries to both arms. App. 505-06. The handcuffs placed by Petitioner eventually had to be cut off of the victims. App. 496. While Petitioner obviously caused serious injury to both victims prior to handcuffing them, the handcuffing itself created additional injury.

Moreover, the evidence revealed that Petitioner threatened to "blow [Mrs. Adkins'] head off' if she attempted to call police after handcuffing the pair. App. 494. This statement, along with handcuffing the two together, makes it clear that Petitioner sought to terrorize Mr. and Mrs. Adkins so that they would not call for help and lead to his capture. The mere effect of handcuffing the two elderly victims together, in and of itself, was done to terrorize them and protect Petitioner's identity.

Petitioner discounts any argument that the Adkins couple was unlawfully restrained for the purpose of concession. Petitioner cites to dictionary definitions but ignores this Court's definitions of concession relating to the kidnapping statute. This Court has noted in relation to kidnapping that "the intent to demand a concession or advantage has a much broader meaning and may encompass other benefits or purposes as well." *State v. Hanna*, 180 W. Va. 598, 605, 378 S.E.2d 640, 647

(1989). In the *Hanna* case, this Court found the concession to be a promise that the victim would reconcile romantically with the perpetrator. *Id.* at 605-06, 378 S.E.2d at 647-48. In the present case, the concession was for the victims not to call for help so that Petitioner could get away.

The Fourth Circuit has found that a concession under the kidnapping statute can be a promise not to call a perpetrator's parole officer under the threat of death. *United States v. D'Arco*, 139 F.3d 894 (4th Cir. 1998) (table). This is substantially similar to this case in which Petitioner threatened death upon Mr. and Mrs. Adkins if they called for help. Under the facts of this case, the jury could have found that Petitioner met either subsection (1) or (2). To that end, the kidnapping conviction should be affirmed.

2. This assignment is not subject to this Court's review, but under a plain error analysis the kidnappings in this case arose from separate actions from the robbery. Therefore, the kidnappings were not incidental to the robberies.

Petitioner next argues that the kidnappings in this case were incidental to the robbery. Pet'r's Br. 22. Petitioner, however, did not make this argument before the circuit court. This Court has declined to address errors when a litigant did not object on the same ground below. *State v. Edward C.*, No. 19-0831, 2020 WL 6051314, at \*4 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Oct. 13, 2020) (memorandum decision). This Court notes that "[t]o preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect." *Id.*, citing *State v. Sites*, 241 W. Va. 430, 438, 825 S.E.2d 758, 766 (2019) (additional citation omitted). "One of the most familiar procedural rubrics in the administration of justice is the rule that the failure of a litigant to assert a right in the trial court likely will result' in the imposition of a procedural bar to an appeal of that issue." *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 17, 459 S.E.2d 114, 128 (1995). Because Petitioner failed to object on this ground at trial, this Court should decline to address this argument on appeal.

If this Court reviews this assignment of error, Petitioner must proceed under the plain error doctrine. "To trigger application of the 'plain error' doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syl. Pt. 7, *Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114. Plain error warrants reversal "solely in those circumstances in which a miscarriage of justice would otherwise result." *Id.* at 18, 459 S.E.2d at 129 (citing *United States v. Frady*, 456 U.S. 152, 163 n. 14 (1982)). As Petitioner cannot show a miscarriage of justice, his conviction should be affirmed.

Petitioner "bears the burden of persuasion on each of the four prongs of the plain error standard." Lowery v. United States, 3 A.3d 1169, 1173 (D.C. 2010). See also United States v. Hall, 625 F.3d 673, 684 (10th Cir. 2010) ("The defendant has the burden of establishing all four elements of plain error."); United States v. Epstein, 426 F.3d 431, 443 (1st Cir. 2005) ("The test for plain error contains four prongs, which the defendant bears the burden of proving."); United States v. Clarke, 767 F. Supp. 2d 12, 24 (D.D.C. 2011) ("The defendant bears the burden of proving each element of the plain error standard."). And "[s]atisfying all four prongs of the plain-error test is difficult[.]" United States v. Williamson, 706 F.3d 405, 413 (4th Cir. 2013). In short, while appellate courts may review forfeited objections for plain error "such error is rarely found." 9 James Wm. Moore et al., Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 46.02[2] (3d ed. 2002). The Miller Court noted that "[h]istorically, the 'plain error' doctrine 'authorizes [an appellate court] to correct only 'particularly egregious errors' . . . that 'seriously affect the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings [.]' "Miller, 194 W. Va. at 18, 459 S.E.2d at 129, citing United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 15, (1985). Moreover, "[p]lain error warrants reversal "solely in those circumstances in which a miscarriage of justice would otherwise result." United States v. Frady,

456 U.S. 152, 163 n. 14, (1982)." *Miller*, 194 W. Va. at 18, 459 S.E.2d at 129. Justice Cleckley expanded on this proposition, stating as follows:

Assuming that an error is "plain," the inquiry must proceed to its last step and a determination made as to whether it affects the substantial rights of the defendant. To affect substantial rights means the error was prejudicial. It must have affected the outcome of the proceedings in the circuit court, and the defendant rather than the prosecutor bears the burden of persuasion with respect to prejudice.

Syl. Pt. 9, Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114.

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